STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Alex Kinlaw, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
Case No. 2017-CP-10-5382
Appellate Case No. 2019-001125

RECEIVED
OCT 16 2019
SC Court of Appeals

South Carolina Department of Commerce,
Division of Public Railways,

Appellant,

v.

Gateway Properties of Greater Charleston, LLC,

Respondent,

and

NBSC a division of Synovus Bank, VFC Partners 15 LLC, Capella Carolinas, LLC,
Donivon Glassburn, and the Loft Pilates Center, LLC,

Other Condemnees.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Keith M. Babcock, SC Bar No. 456
Ariail E. King, SC Bar No. 8952
David L. Paavola, SC Bar No. 100714
LEWIS BABCOCK L.L.P.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. For over seventy years, the South Carolina Supreme Court has defined just compensation as the property's fair market value. For over forty years, the South Carolina Supreme Court has described fair market value as the value a willing buyer would pay and a willing seller accept, where neither party is under compulsion to enter the transaction. Landowner's appraiser testified that his valuation did not reflect fair market value or what a willing buyer would pay for Landowner's property. Did the lower court err in admitting testimony from Landowner's appraiser?
- II. Public Railways asked the jury to return a verdict of no less than \$1,800,000. The only evidence offered on fair market value was for \$1,800,000 and \$1,750,000. Did the lower court err in denying Public Railways' motion for directed verdict in the amount of \$1,800,000?
- III. The South Carolina Supreme Court has defined just compensation as the property's fair market value. Did the lower court err in charging the jury that if the jury considered fair market value to be unfair to either party it could use some other formula?
- IV. Rule 803(6), SCRE, business records exception to hearsay, provides that only records kept in the course of a regularly conducted business activity are admissible, and explicitly excluded from admission are those records containing subjective opinions and judgments. Did the lower court err in admitting as a business record an email from Landowner's Certified Public Accountant providing a subjective reconstruction cost estimate created in response to the condemnation?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a condemnation action. The South Carolina Department of Commerce, Division of Public Railways (“Public Railways” or “Appellant”) commenced this condemnation action on October 19, 2017. (Condemnation Notice and Tender of Payment (Oct. 19, 2017)). A jury trial was held on March 25-28, 2019, in Charleston County. As with most condemnation cases, the sole issue in this case is the amount of just compensation due to the landowner Gateway Properties of Greater Charleston, LLC (“Landowner,” or “Respondent”) for the acquisition of its entire three-acre property and 7,800 square foot building in Charleston. Public Railways deposited \$1,800,000 with the Charleston County Clerk of Court at the commencement of this action as its tender of just compensation. (Condemnation Notice and Tender of Payment). The jury returned a verdict in the amount of \$3,750,000. (Trial Tr. vol. IV, 598:18-20).

This is an appeal from the circuit court’s order denying Appellant’s post-trial motions. The circuit court issued its order denying Appellant’s post-trial motions on June 4, 2019, which was then filed on June 11, 2019. (Order on Condemnor’s Post-Trial Motions). Appellant received notice of entry of the order denying its post-trial motions on June 17, 2019. Appellant served its Notice of Appeal on July 10, 2019. (Notice of Appeal).

Appellant contests the following issues: (1) the admission of testimony from Respondent’s appraiser Mr. Thomas Hartnett; (2) the failure of the lower court to direct a verdict in the amount of \$1,800,000; (3) the lower court’s charge to the jury that if it considered fair market value unfair to either party it could use some other formula for just compensation; and (4) the admission of evidence containing hearsay through the business records exception. Appellant requests that the Court direct a verdict in accordance with the undisputed evidence on fair market value of the acquired property, or in the alternative grant a new trial.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In October 2017, Public Railways, a division of the South Carolina Department of Commerce, condemned the entire tract of land and building owned by Gateway Properties of Greater Charleston, LLC (“Landowner,” or “Respondent”) located at 1799 Meeting Street (the “Property”), which is near the Charleston Naval Complex. (Trial Tr. vol. I, 114:13-23). Public Railways acquired the Property as part of its construction of the Navy Base Intermodal Container Transfer Facility and associated railway lines. (Trial Tr. vol. I, 96:3-6).

In 2007, Landowner constructed a building on the Property to house Lifespaces, Inc., a technology contractor doing business as eLifespaces. (Trial Tr. vol. II, 164:18-22, 169:19, 240:7-9). Landowner and Lifespaces are both owned by Fred Fabian and various family members. (Trial Tr. vol. II, 163:15-17, 165:20-21). The portion of the building occupied by Lifespaces included a home theatre room and acoustical treatment room used to demonstrate various products that could be installed in a home or business. (Trial Tr. vol. II, 202:21-203:13, 210:17-211:7, 225:19-227:2, L. Exs. 30, 38). Landowner’s appraiser, Mr. Thomas Hartnett, testified that the home theater room is not a big room and was perhaps 20ft. x 20ft. and the acoustical room perhaps 30ft. x 30ft. (Trial Tr. vol. III, 388:21-389:3; 409:21-410:3). The home theatre and acoustical rooms only occupied a portion of the building’s first floor. (L. Exs. 11, 59 (floor plans)).

Mr. Fabian testified that Lifespaces occupied the entire building until the great recession, when it began leasing space to a bingo operating company and software development company; when the software company left, it leased space to a Pilates studio. (Trial Tr. vol. II, 246:22-247:17, 248:18-249:4, 249:22-250:4). At the time of condemnation, the building of approximately 7,816 square feet housed three tenants: Lifespaces (4,275 square feet), Capella Carolinas, a bingo operator (2,251 square feet), and The Loft Pilates Center, LLC, a Pilates studio (959 square feet). (Trial Tr. vol. II, 248:18-249:4, 249:22-250:4, 308:11-309:5; L. Ex. 59). Mr. Fabian testified that

the Landowner could have leased the Lifespaces space to another office tenant if needed. (Trial Tr. vol. II, 302:13-21). Landowner's appraiser, Mr. Hartnett, also testified that another tenant could have used the Lifespaces area for another purpose. (Trial Tr. vol. III, 411:2-8).

Mr. Fabian was Respondent's first witness during its case-in-chief. Over Appellant's objection, Mr. Fabian was permitted to testify to an email exchange with his Certified Public Accountant concerning the estimated costs to reconstruct the building, and Respondent was allowed to enter this email into evidence over Appellant's objection. (Trial Tr. vol. II, 265:20-271:21; L. Ex. 63). In this email, Mr. Fabian's CPA provided a cost estimate to reconstruct the building at the time of condemnation. (L. Ex. 63). The CPA was not present to testify to the cost estimate reflected in the email and was not qualified as an expert in property valuation. The court recognized the email as hearsay but denied Appellant's hearsay objection and admitted the email under the business record exception to hearsay. (Trial Tr. vol. II, 269:4-24). Mr. Fabian testified that Mr. William Ford appraised the Property for Public Railways prior to the condemnation at \$1,800,000 and that this was the amount of Public Railways' initial offer. (Trial Tr. vol. II, 264:7-265:12). Respondent moved Public Railways' initial offer letter reflecting Mr. Ford's valuation into evidence. (L. Ex. 66).

Landowner offered expert appraisal and property valuation testimony from Mr. Thomas Hartnett. Appellant contested the admission of testimony from Mr. Hartnett. Appellant first moved in limine to exclude testimony from Mr. Hartnett based on deposition testimony that his valuation was not based on fair market value and did not reflect what a willing buyer would pay for the Property at the time of condemnation. (Trial Tr. vol. I, 44-71). Appellant's motion in limine was denied. (Trial Tr. vol. I, 70:8-10). Appellant again moved to exclude the testimony of

Mr. Hartnett when Respondent offered him as an expert witness at trial and this motion was denied. (Trial Tr. vol. III, 379:6-16).

Mr. Hartnett testified that he did not value the Property using the sales comparison approach or the income capitalization approach, but instead he valued the Property using the cost approach. (Trial Tr. vol. III, 401:5-402:15). Based on the cost approach, Mr. Hartnett valued the Property at \$4,580,000. (Trial Tr. vol. III, 386:25-387:5, 401:21-402:15). Mr. Harnett testified that a willing buyer would not have paid \$4,580,000 for the Property in October of 2017, (Trial Tr. vol. III, 414:10-415:4), and that his cost approach valuation did not reflect fair market value, (Trial Tr. vol. III,415:5-15). Appellant renewed its motion to exclude Mr. Hartnett's testimony at the conclusion of Mr. Hartnett's testimony. (Trial Tr. vol. III, 442:2-21). Appellant's motion was denied. (Trial Tr. vol. III, 453:13-18). Appellant moved for a directed verdict at the close of Respondent's case-in-chief on the basis that Mr. Hartnett's testimony should be excluded and a verdict directed on the only remaining evidence of just compensation, as offered through Mr. Fabian. (Trial Tr. vol. III, 444:2-15). This motion was denied. (Trial Tr. vol. III, 453:13-18).

Appellant presented testimony from an expert real estate appraiser, Ms. Deborah Haskell. Ms. Haskell valued the Property using the sales comparison and income capitalization approaches to value. (Trial Tr. vol. III, 483:2-4; 492:14-16). She testified that her valuation was based on fair market value, which is the value a willing buyer would pay and a willing seller accept, where neither party is under compulsion to enter the transaction. (Trial Tr. vol. III, 482:14-483:1). Under the sales comparison approach, Ms. Haskell testified that she was able to locate sales of similar buildings near the Property, and based on these sales, the Property's value was \$1,850,000. (Trial Tr. vol. III, 483:7-484:25; 492:7-13). Ms. Haskell also testified that the Property could be leased and that based on market rents of similar buildings, the Property's value was \$1,600,000. (Trial

Tr. vol. III, 492:14-493:11). Ms. Haskell weighted the sales comparison approach slightly higher than the income approach and testified that her reconciliation of fair market value for the Property at the time of condemnation was \$1,750,000. (Trial Tr. vol III, 494:8-495:10).

Appellant renewed its motion for directed verdict at the close of evidence, asking the court to exclude Mr. Hartnett's testimony and enter a verdict based on the only evidence of fair market value—Mr. Fabian's testimony as to Mr. Ford's valuation and Ms. Haskell's testimony as to the fair market value of the Property. (Trial Tr. vol. III, 525:2-20). That motion was denied. (Trial Tr. vol. III, 525:2-20).

Over Appellant's objection, the court charged the jury as follows:

Let's look at the damages formula. The approved formula for determining damages in a condemnation case provides for payment to the Landowner a fair market price of the property taken. If that formula is unfair to either party, some other formula may be used.

(Trial Tr. vol. IV, 587:15-19). Appellant objected to the final sentence of this jury charge and its objection was overruled. (Trial Tr. vol. IV, 593:5-17). The jury returned a verdict in the amount of \$3,750,000. (Trial Tr. vol. IV, 598:18-20).

Appellant filed post-trial motions. (Condemnor's Post Trial Motions). All of Appellant's post-trial motions were denied. (Order on Condemnor's Post Trial Motions). This appeal followed.

ARGUMENT

I. Summary of Arguments.

Just compensation is measured by fair market value, which is that value a willing buyer would pay and a willing seller accept as of the date of condemnation for the property being taken where neither party is under compulsion to enter the transaction. Landowner's appraiser Mr. Hartnett testified that his cost approach valuation did not reflect fair market value and did not reflect the value a willing buyer would have paid for the Property as of October 2017. For this reason, the trial court erred in admitting the testimony of Mr. Hartnett and in not directing a verdict based on the only competent evidence of just compensation presented at trial. The court further erred by instructing the jury that it could set aside the fair market value measure of just compensation and use "some other formula" if it determined that fair market value was unfair to either party. In essence, the jury was told that it could value the Property however it wanted. This was error.

Additionally, Appellant was prejudiced by the erroneous admission of testimony and an email reflecting a reproduction cost estimate from Landowner's CPA, who was not present and testifying at trial and who was not qualified as an expert in property valuation.

These errors entitle Appellant to a directed verdict based on the competent evidence of fair market value presented at trial, or in the alternative, a new trial.

II. **Mr. Hartnett's Testimony Should Have Been Excluded Because it Did Not Reflect Fair Market Value and the Amount a Willing Buyer Would Have Paid for the Property at the Time of Condemnation.**

Landowner offered its opinion of just compensation through appraiser Thomas Hartnett. Mr. Hartnett testified that he did not value the Property using the sales comparison approach or the income capitalization approach but instead valued the Property using the less frequently used cost approach. (Trial Tr. vol. III, 401:5-402:15). Mr. Hartnett also testified that his \$4,580,000

opinion of just compensation using the cost approach did not represent fair market value and did not reflect the amount a willing buyer would have paid for the Property at the time of condemnation. (Trial Tr. vol. III, 387:4-5; 414:10-415:15). For decades, South Carolina courts have defined just compensation as fair market value, or that value a willing buyer will pay and a willing seller will accept, neither being under compulsion to do so. Mr. Harnett's testimony was unreliable because it did not comport with South Carolina condemnation law defining just compensation. For this reason, Mr. Harnett's testimony should have been excluded from evidence.

A. Standard of Review

“The qualification of an expert witness and the admissibility of the expert's testimony are matters within the trial court's sound discretion.” *State v. Chavis*, 412 S.C. 101, 106, 771 S.E.2d 336, 338 (2015) (citing *State v. Myers*, 301 S.C. 251, 391 S.E.2d 551 (1990)). “A trial court's decision to admit or exclude expert testimony will not be reversed absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion.” *State v. White*, 382 S.C. 265, 269, 676 S.E.2d 684, 686 (2009) (citing *State v. Price*, 368 S.C. 494, 498, 629 S.E.2d 363, 365 (2006)). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the circuit court are either controlled by an error of law or are based on unsupported factual conclusions.” *Chavis*, 412 S.C. at 106, 771 S.E.2d at 338 (citing *State v. Douglas*, 369 S.C. 424, 429-30, 632 S.E.2d 845, 848 (2006)). As well, “[a] trial court's ruling on admissibility of an expert's testimony constitutes an abuse of discretion when the ruling is manifestly arbitrary, unreasonable, or unfair.” *Fields v. Reg'l Med. Ctr. Orangeburg*, 363 S.C. 19, 26, 609 S.E.2d 506, 509 (2005) (citation omitted). “To warrant reversal based on the admission or exclusion of evidence, the appellant must prove both the error of the ruling and the resulting prejudice, i.e., that

there is a reasonable probability the jury's verdict was influenced by the challenged evidence or the lack thereof.” *Id.* (citations omitted).

A trial court serves as a gatekeeper for expert testimony sought to be introduced pursuant to Rule 702, SCRE. *White*, 382 S.C. at 274, 676 S.E.2d at 689 (“We hold that the trial courts of this state have a gatekeeping role with respect to all evidence sought to be admitted under Rule 702, whether the evidence is scientific or nonscientific.”). “In the discharge of its gatekeeping role, a trial court must assess the threshold foundational requirements of qualifications and reliability and further find that the proposed evidence will assist the trier of fact.” *Id.*

B. Just Compensation in a Condemnation Action Is Only Based on Fair Market Value.

The circuit court erred when it permitted Mr. Hartnett to testify to an opinion of just compensation that did not reflect fair market value. The only measure of just compensation that South Carolina courts have approved is fair market value, which is that value a willing buyer will pay and a willing seller accept, where neither party is under compulsion to enter the transaction.

When a governmental entity takes private property for public use through its power of eminent domain in a condemnation action, the landowner is entitled to receive just compensation. U.S. Const. amend. V (“nor shall private property be taken for public use, without just compensation”); S.C. Const. art. I, § 13 (“private property shall not be taken . . . for public use without just compensation being first made for the property”). In 1987, South Carolina codified its procedure for eminent domain actions in the South Carolina Eminent Domain Procedure Act (hereinafter, the “Eminent Domain Act”). S.C. Code Ann. § 28-2-10, et seq. The Eminent Domain Act provides that “[i]n determining just compensation, only the value of the property taken, any diminution in the value of the landowner’s remaining property, and any benefits [to the landowner’s remaining property] may be considered.” S.C. Code Ann. § 28-2-370.

In this case, the Landowner's entire Property was acquired through condemnation and the only factual question for the jury to determine was the "value of the property taken." S.C. Code Ann. § 28-2-370. South Carolina courts have defined "value of the property taken" as equating to its "fair market value," or the value a willing buyer would pay a willing seller, where neither party is under compulsion to enter the transaction. Fair market value is measured at the time of the taking and may vary from the amount the landowner has spent on the property. *Olson v. United States*, 292 U.S. 246, 254-55 (1934). As the United States Supreme Court has explained:

[Market value] may be more or less than the owner's investment. He may have acquired the property for less than its worth or he may have paid a speculative and exorbitant price. Its value may have changed substantially while held by him. The return yielded may have been greater or less than interest, taxes, and other carrying charges. The public may not by any means confiscate the benefits, or be required to bear the burden, of the owner's bargain.

Id. at 255. Even where there is not an active market for the property taken through condemnation, just compensation is still measured by *market value*. *Olson*, 292 U.S. at 257 (observing where there was no active market for flowage easements the "*market value must be estimated*" (emphasis added)).

For over seventy years, the South Carolina Supreme Court has repeatedly defined just compensation, the "value of property taken," in a condemnation action as the property's fair market value. *Howell v. State Highway Dep't*, 167 S.C. 217, 166 S.E. 129, 130 (1932) (approving jury charge stating that "actual value of the land means the fair market value of the land, upon a fair market, upon fair advertisement, and a fair sale at normal times").¹ The South Carolina Court of

¹ *Accord S.C. State Highway Dep't v. League's Estate*, 251 S.C. 368, 372, 162 S.E.2d 532, 533 (1968) (holding the admissibility of comparable sales "depends upon preliminary proof of sufficient similarity in the transactions to satisfy the trial judge in the exercise of a sound discretion that the evidence will be of aid in determining the fair market value of the property taken" (emphasis added)); *S.C. State Highway Dep't v. Bryant*, 253 S.C. 400, 406, 171 S.E.2d 349, 352 (1969) ("That the condemnee had no intention whatever of selling any portion of his property

Appeals has similarly defined just compensation and “the value of property taken” as its fair market value.² Fair market value has been further described by the South Carolina Supreme Court for over forty years as the value at which a willing seller will sell, and a willing buyer will buy, where neither party is under compulsion to do so.

And [m]arket value of property taken or injured for public use means the *fair value of the property as between one who wants to purchase and one who wants to sell*, its present value at a sale which a prudent owner would make if at liberty to fix the time and conditions of sale, not what could be obtained for it at a forced sale or under peculiar circumstances, nor a value obtained from the necessities of another.

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