IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

\_\_\_\_\_  
Honorable Alex Kinlaw, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

\_\_\_\_\_  
Civil Action No.: 2017-CP-10-5382  
Appellate Case No.: 2019-001125  
\_\_\_\_\_

**RECEIVED**  
FEB 24 2020  
SC Court of Appeals

South Carolina Department of Commerce,  
Division of Public Railways .....Appellant,

v.

Gateway Properties of Greater Charleston, LLC .....Respondent,

And

NBSC a division of Synovus Bank, VFC Partners 15 LLC, Capella Carolinas, LLC,  
Donivan Glassburn, and the Loft Pilates Center, LLC,  
Other Condemnees.

\_\_\_\_\_  
**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT,**

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

Finally, Railways asserts that it was entitled to an entry of judgment for \$1,800,000 as a matter of law because the jury had to accept Haskell's testimony as the only evidence of fair market value, i.e., the amount a willing buyer would have paid, or a willing seller would have accepted. Railways is incorrect. Even assuming, arguendo, Railways' tortured argument that just compensation can only be defined using the willing buyer-willing seller paradigm, there is absolutely no proof the jury did not determine that a willing seller of the unique facility would have only accepted \$3,750,000 to sell the property and that a willing buyer in search of such a property would have paid that amount. The jury may well have determined that Hartnett's opinion constituted fair market value, i.e., what a willing buyer desiring a special purpose building like this

one who would use it for the same purposes would pay a willing seller of a special purpose building like this one. Railways has not shown, and cannot show, that the verdict was not the jury's determination of fair market value as well as just compensation. In fact, based upon the costs of building a facility such as the Property, which were admitted without objection, such a conclusion would have been entirely reasonable. Therefore, for all of these reasons, the Court should affirm the circuit court's denial of the motion for directed verdict.

**III. The circuit court's jury charge concerning fair market value and just compensation, the challenged portion of which was a verbatim excerpt from a South Carolina Supreme Court case, was a correct statement of the law and should be affirmed.**

a. This issue is not preserved for review.

Rule 51 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure provides that “[n]o party may assign as error the giving or the failure to give an instruction unless he objects thereto before the jury retires to consider its verdict, stating distinctly the matter to which he objects and the grounds for his objection.” SCRCP 51; see also, e.g., Belue v. City of Greenville, 226 S.C. 192, 84 S.E.2d 631 (1954) (refusing to consider on appeal a contention regarding the trial court's jury instruction that was not raised at trial); Sierra v. Skelton, 307 S.C. 217, 414 S.E.2d 169 (Ct. App. 1992).

Railways agreed to the Court charging the jury on the definition of just compensation as follows:

The Constitution of this state and of our United States require that a property owner be paid just compensation for the taking or damaging of his or her property for public use. You are called upon as jurors in this case to determine the just compensation to be paid.

\* \* \*

As I said before, the amount a Condemnor should pay a Landowner in order to adequately compensate the Landowner for the taking of his property is called just compensation. *It is that amount of money which would put the Landowner in as good a position monetarily as he was in prior to the taking of the property.* In

order to be compensated fully, *the Landowner must be put in as good a position pecuniary as the use of his property had not been taken.*

*He is entitled to have the full equivalent of the value of such use at the time of taking.* The owner is to be given, as compensation for his land, *a fair price for any use* for which it was -- has commercial value of its own in the immediate present or in the reasonable anticipation in the near future.

**(Trial Tr. R. p. 756, l. 8- p. 757, l. 10)** (double emphasis added).

Now, Railways asserts that the definition of just compensation is something different, namely that just compensation is exclusively defined as what a willing buyer would pay and what a willing seller would accept. Railways waived any argument to this effect by agreeing to the jury charge on just compensation.

Additionally, the determination of “just compensation” was the question posed to the jury on the verdict form that Railways agreed upon. See (Trial Tr. R. p. 685, l. 10- l. 14); (Trial Tr. R. p. 686, l. 9-l. 12); (Verdict Form, R. p. 3). Railways could have insisted that the verdict form ask the jury to determine fair market value: what a willing buyer would have paid for the property taken; or what a willing seller would have accepted. Recognizing the constitutional imperative that Gateway receive just compensation, Railways did not object to the verdict form. The failure of a party to object to the verdict form before it is submitted to the jury constitutes a waiver and cannot be the basis for setting aside the jury’s verdict based on that form. Johnson v. Hoechst Celanese Corp., 317 S.C. 415, 420, 453 S.E.2d 908, 912 (Ct. App. 1995); Gause v. Smithers, 403 S.C. 140, 150, 742 S.E.2d 644, 650 (2013) (Party fails to preserve any issue related to the verdict form by not objecting to jury verdict form until after verdict read).

Now, Railways is essentially arguing that the jury was required to deliver a verdict that represented its expert’s opinion of fair market value rather than “just compensation.” Railways is precluded from making these arguments because of its consent to the form of the verdict. This

failure to object to the verdict form is of the same force and effect as failing to object to a jury charge. Johnson, 453 S.E.2d 912.

- b. Even if the issue were preserved for appeal, the circuit court's charge was correct as a matter of law and should be affirmed.

Railways asserts a portion of the jury charge, that was a verbatim excerpt from Carolina Power & Light Co., was a misstatement of law, even though that case has not been overturned and has even been cited by the federal court since the trial in this case. See U.S. v. 269 Acres, More or Less, Located in Beaufort County S.C., CV 9:16-2550-RMG, 2019 WL 1450578, at \*3 (D.S.C. Apr. 2, 2019) (citing Carolina Power & Light Co. v. Copeland).

The challenged charge, which was taken word-for-word from Carolina Power & Light Co. v. Copeland is as follows:

The approved formula for determining damages in a condemnation case provides for payment to the Landowner of fair market price of the property taken. If that formula is unfair to either party, some other formula may be used.

**(Trial Tr. p. R. 757, l. 15- l. 19);** Carolina Power & Light Co., at 193, 258 S.C. at 217. (“The approved formula for determining damages in condemnation cases in this state provides for payment to the landowner of fair market price of property taken. . . . If that formula is unfair to either party some other formula may be used.”).

This charge is consistent with the authorities cited above for the meaning of “just compensation.” Railways’ purported criticism of this charge is that it did not specifically instruct the jury that the *exclusive test* for just compensation must be what a willing buyer will pay and a willing seller will accept. Overlooking that Railways has not found a single case stating, even in dicta, that the formula it proposes is exclusive, the jury charge as a whole included numerous references to fair market value. The Court’s instructions also included other jury charges based upon the Eminent Domain Procedures Act that Railways did not object to.

“A trial court must charge the current and correct law.” Stephens v. CSX Transp., Inc., 415 S.C. 182, 197, 781 S.E.2d 534, 542 (2015) (citations omitted). “When an appellate court reviews an alleged error in a jury charge, it ‘must consider the court’s jury charge as a whole in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial.’” Id. (quoting Keaton ex rel. Foster v. Greenville Hosp. Sys., 334 S.C. 488, 497, 514 S.E.2d 570, 575 (1999)). “If, as a whole, the charges are reasonably free from error, isolated portions which might be misleading do not constitute reversible error.” Id. at 198, 781 S.E.2d at 542 (quoting Keaton, 334 S.C. at 497, 514 S.E.2d at 575). “This holistic approach to jury instructions is linked to the principle of appellate procedure that ‘[a]n error not shown to be prejudicial does not constitute grounds for reversal.’” Id. (quoting Ardis v. Sessions, 383 S.C. 528, 532, 682 S.E.2d 249, 250 (2009)).

The two sentences from the jury charge that Railways attacks are a correct statement of the law. The charge is taken directly from a South Carolina Supreme Court case, and Railways has come forward with no legal authority calling the accuracy of the charge into question. Additionally, it is important to note that the challenged charge is consistent with South Carolina and United States Supreme Court precedent. See Seaboard Air Line Ry. v. United States, 261 U.S. 299, 304, 43 S.Ct. 354, 67 L.Ed. 664 (1923) (“The compensation to which the owner is entitled is the full and perfect equivalent of the property taken.”); Phelps v. U.S., 47 S.Ct. 611, 612, 274 U.S. 341, 344 (1927) (“The government’s obligation is to put the owners in as good position pecuniarily as if the use of their property had not been taken. They are entitled to have the full equivalent of the value of such use at the time of the taking paid contemporaneously with the taking.”)

Additionally, even if the two sentences were not an accurate statement of the law, the charge contained numerous references to the formula for fair market value that Railways claims is

exclusive. See (Trial Tr. R. p. 756, l. 14-l. 16) (Trial Tr. R. p. 757, l. 15-l. 19); (Trial Tr. R. p. 757, l. 20-p. 758, l. 3); (Trial Tr. R. p. 758, l. 5-11); (Trial Tr. R. p. 758, l. 12-l. 17); (Trial Tr. R. p. 758, l. 18-l. 23); (Trial Tr. R. p. 760, l. 6-7); (Trial Tr. R. p. 761, l. 7-l.8). Additionally, as explained above, the charge included agreed upon charges on “just compensation” and that the Landowner is entitled to the “value” of the property taken. (Trial Tr. R. p. 756, l. 8- p. 757, l. 10). Simply put, the charge did not contain legal error, was not an abuse of discretion and was a correct statement of the law.

**IV. The circuit court correctly admitted Landowner’s Exhibit 63 into evidence over a hearsay objection because the exhibit was a communication received by the Landowner as part of his regularly conducted business activities.**

The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in admitting Landowner’s Exhibit 63 into evidence. Gateway’s exhibit 63 was an e-mail chain where Fabian sent Railway’s first appraiser information related to the costs to construct the building, information that the appraiser, Bill Ford, had requested. (Trial Tr. R. p. 452, l. 20-p. 453, l. 7). (Order filed 6-11-19, R. pp. 25-26)

After meeting with Ford onsite and showing him many of the special features of the building, Ford requested Fabian provide him information related to the costs to construct the building. (Trial Tr. R. p. 445, l. 5-l. 8); (Trial Tr. R. p. 450, l. 23-p. 451, l. 1). (Trial Tr. R. p. 452, l. 20- p. 453, l. 7). Fabian asked his accountant to provide the requested information and his accountant used actual cost data from the construction of the building and adjust those costs for inflation. (Trial Tr. R. p. 446, l. 2-5) (Mr. Fabian explaining that Mr. Ford “asked for cost data, so I contacted my accountant and asked him if he would write up -- extract from the cost associated with that building so that I could share with Mr. Ford.”); (Landowner’s Ex. 63). Fabian then provided that information to Ford. (Landowner’s Ex. 63, R. pp. 850-851). Fabian’s accountant estimated the total value of the property at \$4,024,500 by adding the original scheduled cost values

(adjusted by the annual inflation rate) to a land value provided by a real estate consultant. **(Landowner's Ex. 63, R. pp. 850-851); see also, (Trial Tr. R. p. 457, l. 4-p. 458, l. 22).** Ford responded stating that "the total cost numbers are much appreciated. Any detail showing different systems, HVAC, Security, Structure, electrical, plumbing, etc., would help even further. It is not a problem if this is not available, it would simply speed the process on my end." **(Landowner's Ex. 63, R. pp. 850-851).**

The only objection at trial was hearsay. **(Trial Tr. R. p. 453, l.19- l.21).** The Court overruled the objection on the basis that the business records exception to the hearsay rule applied. **(Trial Tr. R. p. 456, l. 18-l. 24); see also, SCRE 803(6).** Fabian testified that the communications in the exhibit were kept as part of his regularly conducted business. **(Trial Tr. R. p. 454, l. 22-p. 455, l. 6).** Railways now argues that the email was inadmissible because it was not generated in the scope of Fabian's business at eLifespaces. However, Fabian is a member and the contact person for the Gateway. **(Trial Tr. R. p. 350, l. 15-l. 20); (Trial Tr. R. p. 478, l.12-l. 15); (Trial Tr. R. p. 452, l. 20-p. 453, l. 7).** It is clear from the exhibit that he received and sent these communications within the scope of that real estate business. Gateway is in the business of owning and renting property and the taking of that property is clearly within the scope of activities conducted in a real estate business.

Railways suggests even if properly admitted as a business record, the e-mail should have been excluded on the basis that it contains subjective opinions of an accountant. Railways projects subjectivity onto the calculation continued in the exhibit. The accountant states that he used actual schedules and simply performed a calculation to provide costs in today's dollars. **(Landowner's Ex. 63, R. pp. 850-851).** Additionally, because the cost calculation is significantly lower than the cost estimate performed by Steve Morey, any subjectivity was an error in Railways' favor and

Railways can show no prejudice. See generally, Fields v. Regional Medical Center Orangeburg, 609 S.E.2d 506, 509, 363 S.C. 19, 26 (2005) ((noting that to warrant reversal based on the admission or exclusion of evidence, the appellant must prove both the error of the ruling “and the resulting prejudice, i.e., that there is a reasonable probability the jury's verdict was influenced by the challenged evidence or the lack thereof.”)(citations omitted)).

Moreover, the exhibit is not inadmissible hearsay for two additional reasons. First, it was admissible for reasons unrelated to the truth of the matter asserted, i.e. the cost estimate. SCRE 801(c) (“‘Hearsay’ is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted.”). Landowner’s Ex. 63 was admissible to show that Railways’ former appraiser requested and received the cost information but chose not to use it. The inference from Landowner’s Exhibit 63 is that Railways did not want the cost approach utilized even if its own appraiser thought it was the appropriate approach—Railways just wanted an appraisal with the lowest number possible.

Second, as mentioned, Landowner’s Exhibit 63 shows Railways’ first appraiser asked for and received cost information. This entire e-mail string is an admission of a party opponent by Railways’ appraiser Bill Ford that he made in the scope of his agency for Railways with its substance relating to his task of appraising the Property. See SCRE 801(d)(2) (admission of a party opponent). Therefore, Landowner’s Exhibit 63 was not hearsay and was properly admitted into evidence.

Even if Railways were correct, there was no prejudice. Any alleged error was harmless. Morey and Hartnett both testified concerning the costs of construction in today’s dollars, which was substantially higher than the cost estimate included in the contested exhibit. Morey’s testimony and exhibits concerning reproduction cost were all admitted into evidence without

objection. “Where the hearsay is merely cumulative to other evidence, its admission is harmless.” Small v. Pioneer Mach., Inc., 329 S.C. 448, 470, 494 S.E.2d 835, 846 (Ct. App. 1997) (citing Jackson v. Speed, 326 S.C. 289, 486 S.E.2d 750 (1997)); see also, Collins Ent. Corp. v. Coats and Coats Rental Amuse., 355 S.C. 125, 135, 584 S.E.2d 120, 126, n.9 (Ct. App. 2003), *aff’d*, 368 S.C. 410, 629 S.E.2d 635 (2006) (citing the same rule).

Finally, Railways highlights in its brief that counsel for Landowner mentioned Ex. 63 in his reply argument to the jury. See Railways Brief, 29.<sup>5</sup> Railways suggests that it was a significant evidentiary point because counsel for Landowner mentioned it in reply. Railways omits that counsel for Gateway only mentioned the exhibit in response to the statement to the jury by counsel for Railways in his closing argument that Gateway never provided any information about the cost of the original construction. Specifically, counsel for Railways argued to the jury that Gateway did not provide information related to the original cost of construction because it was trying to keep that information from the jury:

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